Page 1 of 24

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

CITY OF OSHKOSH

PLAINTIFF RESPONDENT

Appeal No: 20-AP-867

VS.

Winnebago Co. Circuit Court Case No: 18 TR

BRIAN D. HAMILL

DEFENDANT APPELLANT

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF RESPONDENT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Winnebago County The Honorable Karen L. Seifert, Presiding

Attorney Kyle J. Sargent

Special Prosecutor for the City of Oshkosh 501 E. Alice St. Appleton WI 54911 920-858-8736 kylejsargent@outlook.com

-

Filed 09-24-2020

Page 2 of 24

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did Atty. Hamill waive his right to appeal the trial court's decision by entering a plea in the trial court?

No, the City concedes the four factors in Quelle weigh in favor of hearing the appeal on the merits.

II. Did the trial court appropriately find that Ofc. Franklin had reasonable suspicion to stop Atty. Hamill's vehicle?

Yes, the trial court properly found that reasonable suspicion existed when the Court found that Hamill's vehicle hit the boundary lines of his lane on three occasions at 2:38 in the morning.

In addition this Court can find that Ofc. Franklin had reasonable suspicion that Atty. Hamill violated Wis. Stat. §346.05, or that his belief that Hamill had violated that statute was objectively reasonable.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The City of Oshkosh does not request oral argument on the matter, and does not believe publication is necessary given the number of published cases regarding reasonable suspicion to stop a vehicle.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The matter before the Court comes on appeal from the Winnebago County Circuit Court where the Defendant was convicted of OWI 1st offense due to his plea of no contest. At the Circuit Court level, the Defendant filed a motion to suppress based on a lack of reasonable suspicion to stop his vehicle. The Court denied the motion to suppress. The Defendant appeals that decision.

II. FACTS

At the suppression hearing, Officer Franklin, testified that he first observed Atty. Hamill while southbound on Main Street in the City of Oshkosh at approximately 0238 AM. R. 33-4; ResApx 4.

Prior to this stop he had been a police officer for approximately ten years, had received training at the academy on the enforcement of OWI cases including being taught to look for traffic violations which included speeding, swerving, sign and signal violations. **R. 33-5 RespAppx - 5**. From this experience he had performed approximately 300 to 400 stops in his career. **R. 33-5**; **RespAppx-5**.

Case 2020AP000867

Ofc. Franklin testified that the road on which Hamill was operating is a straight roadway that has four lanes. R. 33-6; RespAppx-6. The lanes of this roadway are divided for north and southbound traffic. R. 33-6; RespAppx-6. He testified that he observed Hamill's vehicle from approximately 6-7 car lengths back, and that Hamill was traveling in the inside lane of the four-lane roadway. R. 33-6&7; RespAppx-6&7.

The first erratic driving Ofc. Franklin observed came when Hamill approached 17th Avenue where the road slightly curves to the right. **R. 33-7; RespAppx - 7.** Ofc. Franklin testified that as Hamill negotiated that curve, Hamill's tires hit and continued contact on the lane dividing line. **R. 33-7; RespAppx -7.** He further stated that Hamill maintained contact with that dotted line for approximately 20-30 feet, or three to four seconds. **R. 33-7 & 8; RespAppx 7 & 8.** Ofc. Franklin stated that this was not typical as most people drive inside the lanes. **R. 33-8; RespAppx-8.**

Ofc. Franklin further testified that he saw Hamill correct himself and go back to the center of the lane for approximately 30-40 feet followed by the vehicle then drifting on to the center line. **R. 33-8; RespAppx - 8.** He stated that both the left front and rear tires were

contacting the center line. R. 33-8; RespAppx - 8. Franklin testified that this continued for approximately 40 to 50 feet, for a duration of four to five seconds. R. 33-9; RespAppx - 8. He did not recall Hamill crossing the centerline. R. 33-9; RespAppx - 8.

Franklin testified that he then observed Hamill go back into the lane of travel he was operating in and almost immediately drifted toward the dividing line where Hamill's front and rear tires were contacting the line for an additional 30 to 40 feet or three to four seconds. **R. 33-9** & 10; RespAppx - 8.

Ofc. Franklin testified that he believed based on the totality of what he observed including the unsafe lane deviations, Hamill had violated Wis. Stat. §346.05 for failing to maintain his vehicle on the right half of the roadway. R. 33-17; RespAppx -1 17. He was adamant about this during cross examination. R.33 - 17, 18, & 19; RespAppx 17, 18 & 19. He further maintained this believe after looking at the statute. R. 33-23; RespAppx-23. Franklin also testified however that he believed based on what he saw, and the time of day, that Hamill was possibly intoxicated. R. 33-24; RespAppx-24.

Page 10 of 24

After the motion hearing the Court rendered its decision on March 19th, 2019 during an oral ruling.¹ The Court held that based on the holdings in <u>Terry v. Ohio</u>, and <u>State v. Post</u>, Officer Franklin had reasonable suspicion to stop Hamill's vehicle. **RespApx 35-41**. The Court found that Ofc. Franklin observed Mr. Hamill's vehicle had touched opposite lines three times at 2:38 in the morning which constituted reasonable articulable suspicion. **RespApx 35-41**.

DISCUSSION

I. The Defendant Did Not Waive His Right to Appeal.

A guilty or no contest plea creates a waiver of appellate rights in all cases. <u>County of Racine v. Smith</u>, 122 Wis. 2d 431, 362 NW 2d 439 (Ct. App., 1984). The language of Wis. Stat. §971.30 creates an exception in criminal matters, but that exception does not apply in civil matters. This Court however has discretion to review appeals on non-criminal cases. Pursuant to the holding in *County of Ozaukee v. Quelle* the Wisconsin Court of Appeals

¹ The transcript of the 3/19/19 oral ruling was not included in the original record. In this matter there were two oral rulings. The first, regarding the motion to suppress. The second, regarding the motion to reconsider after Ofc. Franklin had been terminated for his own OWI offense. Only the second oral ruling was requested and prepared for the record. The plaintiff respondent filed a motion to supplement the record which was signed by the circuit court on or about 9/18/19. Given that the oral ruling is a necessary part of the record, the Plaintiff Respondent has included it in its appendix for the Court's consideration.

held that appellate courts could grant review of such cases after considering four factors. 198 Wis. 2d 269, 542 N.W.2d 196 (Wis. Ct. App. 1995).

The four factors are as follows:

 the administrative efficiencies resulting from the plea,

whether an adequate record has been developed;
whether the appeal appears motivated by the severity of the sentence, and
the nature of the potential issue. <u>Id</u>. at 275-76.

In the case before the court, three of the four factors demonstrate Hamill did not waive his right to appeal. First, the plea lessened the use of judicial resources at the trial court level. In addition, the trial court developed an adequate record relating to the issue on appeal after the motion hearing. Third, the appeal does not appear to have been motivated by avoiding any particular penalty as the guideline penalty would have likely been the same after trial.

The fourth factor arguably weighs against waiver. The issue before the court is not one of first impression or

particular importance. Here the issues before the court will not augment case law in any significant way. The issue is simply whether reasonable suspicion of a traffic violation or criminal activity was present justifying the stop of the motor vehicle.

Unlike the issue in <u>Quelle</u>, the existence of reasonable suspicion is an area of law which has significant published guidance. Additional guidance is not needed, and therefore this factor weighs in favor of waiver. However, given that three of the four factors weigh in favor of the Defendant's ability to appeal the decision despite his no contest plea, the City of Oshkosh concedes this issue.

II. The Court Properly Denied the Defendant's Motion to Suppress

The standard this court must use to review the circuit court's decision is to determine whether the circuit court's findings of historical fact are clearly erroneous, and if not, then independently apply constitutional principles to those facts. <u>State v. Payano-Roman</u>, 2006 WI 47, 290 Wis. 2d 380, 714 N.W.2d 548.

A police officer may make an investigatory stop of a vehicle if he reasonably suspects a driver is violating a

traffic law, or criminal activity. County of Jefferson v. Renz, 231 Wis.2d 293, (1999); State v. Hougton, 2015 WI 79, 364 Wis. 2d 234. "The crucial question is whether the facts of the case would warrant a reasonable police officer, in light of his or her training and experience, to suspect that the individual has committed, was committing, or is about to commit a crime." State v. Post, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634 (2007) at ¶ 13 citing State v. Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 83-84, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990) & Wis. Stat. §968.24. The stop of a vehicle, however, must be based on more than an officer's unsubstantiated suspicion or hunch. Post, 301 Wis.2d. 1, 733 N.W.2d 634 (2007). "Instead, the officer's suspicion must be grounded upon "specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant the intrusion of the stop." Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, at 21,88 S.Ct. 1868, (1968). This reasonable suspicion may be based on wholly lawful conduct, "so long as the reasonable inferences drawn from the lawful conduct are that criminal activity is afoot." State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, at 57, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996).

In the current matter there are two bases for the finding of reasonable suspicion. First, that officer Franklin had reasonable suspicion that Atty. Hamill was

operating while intoxicated. Second, Ofc. Franklin reasonably suspected that Atty. Hamill violated Wis. Stat. s. 346.05 for failing to maintain his lane.

A) Ofc. Franklin Had Reasonable Suspicion That Atty. Hamill Was Operating While Intoxicated.

The parties have both looked for guidance from <u>State</u> <u>v. Post</u> and its progeny to determine whether Ofc. Franklin had reasonable suspicion to stop, Atty. Hamill. 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634 (2007). In <u>Post</u>, the officer observed the vehicle traveling in a smooth "S-type" pattern toward the right part of the parking lane and back toward the center line. <u>Id.</u> at \P 5. The distance the vehicle traveled from right to left was approximately 10 feet, and at times came within 12 inches of the centerline. <u>Id</u>. When the vehicle traveled back toward the unmarked parking lane it was between six to eight feet from the curb. <u>Id</u>.

The officer in <u>Post</u>, indicated that this had occurred several times over two blocks. <u>Id</u>. During cross examination, the officer clarified that he could not recall how many times this swerving occurred, and that the term several and a few were the same in this context. The Court in <u>Post</u> held that this conduct established a reasonable

Page 15 of 24

suspicion that the driver was operating while intoxicated. Id.

Although <u>Post</u> is very instructive on this issue, the case that most closely resembles the scenario before the Court is that which occurred in <u>City of Tomah v. Seward</u>. 357 Wis. 2d 723, 855 N.W.2d 905 (Wis. Ct. App., 2014). In <u>Seward</u>, the defendant was observed at 11:38 PM swerving from the dotted dividing line to the fog line multiple times. <u>Id</u>. Each time he did so, his tires were touching but did not cross the line. <u>Id</u>. The Court held that this constituted reasonable suspicion of OWI. <u>Id</u>.

The Defendant Appellant cites <u>City of West Allis v.</u> <u>Michals</u>, 367 Wis. 2d 350, 876 N.W.2d 179 (Wis. Ct. App., 2016). **UNPUBLISHED OPINION**. This fact pattern should not be persuasive to this Court as the conduct in Michals is also less suspicious than the driving exhibited by Atty. Hamill. Michals was alleged to have "abruptly swerved" within in her lane three times after accelerating quickly towards the officer's location. <u>Id</u>. At ¶ 2. The court in Michals held that these facts did not amount to reasonable suspición. Id.

What is most important from all of these cases is that there still remains no bright line rule either for or

against the finding of reasonable suspicion where a vehicle does not cross a line. <u>Post</u>, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634 (2007). The decision still must be based on the totality of the circumstances. Id.

Here the driving exhibited by Hamill in this case is indicative of intoxication. First, as testified by Ofc. Franklin this driving was not typical of most motorists that he had observed in his 10 years of experience. R. 33-15; 33-5; RespAppx 15 & 5. Here Franklin observed not an S pattern in a wide unmarked parking lane, or swerving three times abruptly within one lane. Franklin observed Hamill operate his vehicle in a fashion in which he drifted toward the dividing line and rode that line for approximately 20 to 30 feet, or three to four seconds. R. 33-7 & 33-8; RespAppx-7&8. He then observed the vehicle drift back into the middle of the lane and re-center itself for approximately 30 to 40 feet (approximately three to four seconds) in the center of the lane, only to then drift to the centerline where its front and rear tires touched the center line. R. 33-8; RespAppx-8. Once in contact with the centerline, Hamill remained riding on that line for 40 to 50 feet, or four to five seconds. R. 33-9; RespAppx-9. Hamill then almost immediately swerved from riding on the center line to riding on the divider line in the middle of

the two lanes. R. 33-9; RespAppx-9. He continued riding on this line for another 30-40 feet, or three to four seconds. R. 33-10;RespAppx-10. Ofc. Franklin further testified that these observations took place within a time frame of approximately 15 seconds to 20 seconds, and based on these movements he was afraid there could be an accident. R. 33-14;RespAppx-10.

While this behavior may be comparable with that in <u>Post, Michals</u>, and <u>Seward</u> there are important distinctions. First, in Michals the swerving within the lane is not as pronounced. <u>Michals</u>, 367 Wis. 2d 350, 876 N.W.2d 179 (Wis. Ct. App., 2016). UNPUBLISHED OPINION. This was not three abrupt swerves which were explained away as avoidance of potholes by Michals. <u>Id.</u> Hamill's driving consisted of slow pronounced acts of drifting which seem to have been intentionally corrected after he realized his vehicle was almost in the wrong lane. These acts are demonstrative of an individual who is not paying appropriate attention to the road, having trouble staying awake, or having difficulty controlling the vehicle due to intoxication.

The same can be said for that which was observed in the <u>Post</u> case. While Post may have been weaving in an S pattern, Post was not bouncing from line to line in the

manner that Hamill was in this case, nor was he riding each line, and subsequently re-centering the vehicle in at least one of the passes. <u>Post</u>, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634 (2007).

Most importantly however is that Hamill exhibited this driving at 2:38 in the morning whereas Post, and Seward, were driving erratically at 9:30 PM, and 11:34 PM, respectively. R. 33-4; RespAppx-4. The Court in Post definitely viewed this as a factor which lead to reasonable suspicion. 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634 (2007). Moreover, the Court in Seward, found that the time period of 11:34PM on a Wednesday night was also indicative of Operating While Intoxicated. Seward at ¶12. What is interesting is that in all of those cases, as well as Popke, the time of night was a factor which the courts considered. See, Popke, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569(2009 Post, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634 (2007) & Seward 2014 WI App 110, 357 Wis. 2d 723, 855 N.W.2d 905 (Wis. Ct. App., 2014). In each of those cases the courts referenced that the time was a factor despite it not being exactly bar time. Id. Here, the driving is observed almost immediately after bars close in the downtown area of Oshkosh Wisconsin which makes Officer Franklin's suspicion all the more reasonable.

If the Court can envision observing Atty. Hamill's vehicle drift in the manner described above at approximately eight minutes after bar close, the initial, and reasonable suspicion, should be that the driver is intoxicated.

B. Ofc. Franklin Had Reasonable Suspicion that Hamill had violated Wis. Stat. § 346.05

Wis. Stat. § 346.05, requires that "[u]pon all roadways of sufficient width the operator of a vehicle shall drive on the right half of the roadway and in the right-hand lane of a 3-lane highway," unless an exception applies.²

Ofc. Franklin testified that he believed that Hamill's conduct-violated the requirements of the statute. **R. 33 17-19; RespAppx-17-19.** While he admittedly did not see the Hamill cross the centerline, he believed Hamill's conduct to be a violation of the statute. **R. 33-17 & 18; RespAppx 17 & 18.** Franklin maintained the fact that he thought this was a violation during cross examination, when Atty. Hamill questioned him as to whether he was mistaken about the violation. **R. 33, 17-19; RespAppx-17-19.**

² None of the exceptions were applicable to the scenario before the court.

This fact scenario raises an issue of what constitutes a violation of \$346.05 and the meaning of "right half of the roadway". In <u>State v. Popke</u>, the court held that even a momentary incursion into the oncoming lane which does not affect other drivers is sufficient probable cause that a left of center violation has occurred. 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569(2009).

But is an intrusion absolutely necessary? The plain language of Wis. Stat. §346.05 specifically requires drivers to remain on the "right half" of the roadway, and not actually "left of center" as its sometimes called. This begs the question as to where the right half of the roadway ends; at the line, or in the other lane?³

The City concedes that our caselaw has primarily addressed instances where drivers have crossed the road. <u>See, Popke</u>, 317 Wis.2d 118; <u>State v. Puchaz</u>, 323 Wis.2d 741, 780 N.W.2d 536, 2010 WI App 30. However, if the centerline is the line of demarcation for the end of the righthand lane, then riding on that line would constitute operating outside of that righthand lane. Any contact with

³ Roadway is defined under Wis. Stat. §340.01 (54) as the "...portion of a highway between the regularly established curb lines or that portion which is improved, designed or ordinarily used for vehicular travel, excluding the berm or shoulder. In a divided highway the term "roadway" refers to each roadway separately but not to all such roadways collectively.

that line in fact crosses the boundary which marks the end of the lane. Here, when Hamill's tires rode along that line, the tires and any adjacent portion of that vehicle would be outside the lane. By that reading, Ofc. Franklin's interpretation of the statute, and his suspicion of such a violation, was reasonable.

Even if this interpretation is incorrect, the facts of this case demonstrate that Franklin's interpretation is objectively reasonable. In such a circumstance, the basis for Franklin's stop is constitutionally justified even if a mistake. <u>Heien v. North Carolina</u>, 574 U.S. 54, 135 S. Ct. 530, (2014); <u>State v. Hougton</u>, 2015 WI 79, 364 Wis. 2d 234. (Wis., 2015).

In <u>Heine</u>, a law enforcement officer stopped a motor vehicle for having one of the two stop lamps burned out. 574 U.S. 54, 135 S. Ct. 530, 190 L. Ed. 2d 475 (2014). The North Carolina statute however did not require two stop lamps, only one. <u>Id</u>. The US Supreme Court held that where the officer makes an objectively reasonable mistake of law as to an ambiguous statute, the mistaken belief can still form the basis for an investigatory stop. <u>Id</u>.

Shortly thereafter, in <u>State v. Hougton</u>, Wisconsin adopted the same rationale by holding "an officer's

objectively reasonable mistake of law may form the basis for a finding of reasonable suspicion,". 2015 WI 79, 364 Wis. 2d 234. The test for ambiguity is where the "law at issue is 'so doubtful in construction' that a reasonable judge could agree with the officer's view'. <u>Heine</u>, at 541 quoting The Friendship, 9 F.Cas. 825, at 826 (No. 5,125) (C.C.D.Mass.1812) (Story, J.)

As mentioned above, our statute is somewhat ambiguous as to what is precluded by Wis. Stat. §346.05. What constitutes the right half of the roadway could be reasonably interpreted as not only crossing into the left lane, but failing to maintain the right lane. Hamill's driving here would violate the latter of these two options, and in turn be a violation of 346.05. As Franklin testified, he did not believe that Hamill crossed the line, but was adamant that he had violated 346.05 as an unsafe lane deviation. Thus, even if he is incorrect his interpretation is reasonable.

CONCLUSION

Although the City concedes that Atty. Hamill did not waive his right to appeal this determination, the Court should affirm the Trial Court's decision that Ofc. Franklin had reasonable suspicion to stop the Defendant's vehicle. Atty. Hamill operated his vehicle from the dividing line, to the centerline, and back to the dividing line while riding each of those lines for a minimum of three seconds at 2:38 in the morning. This creates suspicion of OWI which is definitely reasonable. The Court should therefore find that reasonable suspicion exists just as the courts did in <u>Post</u>, <u>Popke</u>, & <u>Seward</u>.

Moreover, Ofc. Franklin's belief that Hamill violated \$346.05 is either accurate, or an objectively reasonable mistake of law. In either scenario this establishes a reasonable basis for the stop.