ARGUMENTS 

I.   DEFENDANT DID NOT WAIVE HIS RIGHT TO 

APPEAL  

 

The Plaintiff-Respondent in this case has conceded the fact 

that the right to appeal has not been waived and the Defendant-

Appellant consents to that concession and the issue is now moot.  

 

II.        OFFICER FRANKLIN DID NOT HAVE 

REASONABLE SUSPICION TO BELIEVE THE 

DEFENDANT WAS OPERATING WHILE 

INTOXICATED 

 

 With respect to the reasonable suspicion issue that is at the 

heart of this matter, the Plaintiff-Respondent cites State v. Post, 

2007 WI 60, 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634 as being instructive 

on a case that is similar to this.  Post is different than the case at 

hand in that the vehicle in Post veered in its lane for two blocks, 

made an S-pattern within a single lane several times, and this 

occurred at 9:30 p.m.  In the Seward case, which discusses the Post 

case and similar incidences, the weaving occurred for 

approximately one mile.  City of Tomah v. Seward, 357 Wis.2d 

723, 855 N.W.2d 905 (Ct.App 2014)  In Michaels, the vehicle 

abruptly swerved in the lane three times after accelerating quickly 

towards the officer’s location. (City of West Allis, at ¶ 2)  In this 

case, there was only one alleged drift, no acceleration, no speed 
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 2 

 

violation, and was clearly less suspicious than the Michaels case.  

The Court ultimately found that there was no reasonable suspicion 

in that case.   

 The only alleged improper driving in this case was an 

alleged drift of 30-40 feet, which when traveling at the speed of 35 

mph would take approximately less than 1 second.  The vehicle 

then allegedly corrected itself to the original position for another 

40 feet which would take another 1-2 seconds.  So in this case at 

hand we are talking about approximately 2-3 seconds, not 15-20 

seconds that was estimated by Officer Franklin in the Plaintiff-

Respondent’s Brief.  (See Plaintiff-Respondent’s Brief, p. 10.)  A 

vehicle traveling at 35 mph, which was the posted speed limit at 

the time, would be traveling 51 feet per second.  So if the officer is 

correct in stating that the initial drift was 30 feet, it took less than a 

second, and then the correction to its original position for 40-50 

feet would have taken a little over a second.  This math was not 

done by the Plaintiff-Respondent in this case and the conclusions 

are completely incorrect.  (It should be noted that if the vehicle 

stayed on its path close to the centerline without correcting itself,  

that would presumably be considered reasonable suspicion for a 

stop and would show a lack of awareness by the driver.)  The 
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correction of the driving shows the driver was aware of the 

circumstances and corrected the vehicle to its original position.  In 

light of that, the actual “drifting” that took place here was a 1-

second drift towards the center of the lane, and the response was 

simply a correction of that drift and not evidence of more “bad” 

driving. 

 The Plaintiff-Respondent also states that the time of driving 

was different than the Post and Seward cases.  (See Plaintiff-

Respondent’s Brief, p. 12)  But as the Plaintiff-Respondent 

concedes, both of those cases considered the times at which the 

driving occurred as factors that gave consideration to the 

reasonableness of the stop.  In other words, in all three cases that 

factor was the same, so the time at which the case at hand occurred 

is a consistent factor and that does not make this case any different 

than those two.   

II. DEFENDANT-APPELLANT DID NOT VIOLATE 

WIS. STATS. § 346.05 AND THE STOP WAS NOT A 

REASONABLE MISTAKE OF LAW 
 

Without going through any previous arguments made with 

respect to why this was not a violation, it is conceded by the 

Defendant-Appellant that it was not clearly a violation in that they 

believe the statute is “somewhat ambiguous”.  The Plaintiff- 
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Respondent argues that this was “a mistake of law” and is suitable 

for a constitutional stop.  Wisconsin case law provides differently. 

A. THE MISTAKE OF THE LAW HERE IS NOT 

REASONABLE 

 

It is argued that Officer Franklin stopped the Defendant-

Appellant’s vehicle for a violation of Wis. Stats. § 346.05.  Based 

on the preceding argument, it would be conceded that this was not 

a violation.  If that is correct, then recent Wisconsin law must be 

looked at to determine whether an officer’s mistaken belief of the 

law violates the Fourth Amendment.  

“In the past, Wisconsin courts have held that a  

seizure predicated on a police officer’s mistake of  

law is invalid under the Fourth Amendment.  See  

State v. Brown, 2014 WI 69, ¶ 22, 355 Wis.2d 668, 

850 N.W.2d 66; Longcore, 226 Wis.2d at 3-4, 594 

N.W.2d 412.  However, the Supreme Court’s recent 

decision in Heien is at odds with these holdings.” 

 

The Houghton case was cited by the Plaintiff-Respondent 

for this proposition.  That case is telling because there were two 

pertinent alleged violations that an officer observed that led to the 

stop.  The first violation was thought to be reasonable in that the 

driver had objects on his windshield in his line of sight.  Wisconsin 

statutes do not allow any sign, poster or any transparent material 

upon the front of a windshield.  Wis. Stat. 346.88.  The officer was 

found to be reasonable in thinking that the objects in his view 
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would be a reason for the stop based on the statute.  However, the 

Court found that the statute is not absolute violation of statute that 

any object be in his way, but only those that obstruct the view.  

State v. Houghton, 364 Wis.2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143, 2015 WI 79, 

at P. 61.  In this case, it was found that even though there was no 

obstacle in his vision, the officer’s interpretation of that statute was 

objectively reasonable because he thought the statute was absolute. 

The second part of the Houghton case, though, involved the 

observation by the officer that there was no front license plate on 

the vehicle.  He used this as justification for his stop as well 

thinking Wisconsin law required both a back and a front license 

plate as stated in Wis. Stats. 341.15. However, the officer was 

mistaken in this belief as the statute is clear that only vehicles that 

are issued two license plates must display both.  In some cases, 

vehicles do not have to do that. (P. 72 – 78) The State conceded  

that notion and stated in its brief: 

“However, the officer’s subjective understanding 

of the law is irrelevant and ‘the government cannot 

defend an officer’s mistaken legal interpretation on 

the ground that the officer was unaware of or  

untrained in the law.’  Heien, 135 S.Ct. at 541 

(Kagen J. concurring).  The question is whether it is 

objectively reasonable for an officer to interpret Wis. 

Stat. § 341.15 as requiring that Houghton’s vehicle 

display a front license plate.  The State believes the 

answer to that question must be no.  The law is clear 
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that if a vehicle is only issued one license plate, only 

one license plate needs to be displayed.  Wis. Stats § 

341.15(1)(b).” 

 

The Court also concluded that this was not an objectively  

reasonable mistake of law and that this could not be a mistake that 

would allow for a constitutional stop of a vehicle. 

“Thus, to the extent that Officer Price may have 

believed that Houghton was violating the law by  

not having a front license plate displayed, we hold 

that belief was neither a reasonable mistake of law 

nor a reasonable mistake of law.” 

 

That mistake of a violation is strikingly similar to the case at hand. 

In Houghton, when determining what was objectively 

reasonable, the Court looked to the statutes that were being 

violated and said that, “If this process of analysis yields a plain, 

clear statutory meaning . . . the statute is applied according to this 

ascertainment of its meaning.”  As stated before, Wis. Stats. § 

346.05 is not ambiguous at all, it states as follows: 

346.05 Vehicles to be driven on right side of  

roadway; exceptions. 

(1) Upon all roadways of sufficient width the  

operator of a vehicle shall drive on the right half of the 

roadway and in the right-hand lane of a 3-lane highway, 

except: 

(a) When making an approach for a left turn or U-turn 

under circumstances in which the rules relating to 

U-turns require driving on the left half of the roadway; 

or 

(b) When overtaking and passing under circumstances 

in which rules relating to overtaking and passing permit 
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or require driving on the left half of the roadway; or 

(c) When the right half of the roadway is closed to traffic 

while under construction or repair; or 

(d) When overtaking and passing pedestrians, animals or 

obstructions on the right half of the roadway; or 

(e) When driving in a particular lane in accordance  

with signs or pavement markings designating such  

lane for traffic moving in a particular direction or at  

designated speeds; or  

(f) When the roadway has been designated and  

posted for one-way traffic, subject, however, to the 

rule stated in sub. (3) relative to slow moving vehicles. 

(g) If the vehicle is a wide implement of husbandry,  

as defined in s. 347.24 (3)(a), being operated in  

compliance with any applicable requirement under s. 

347.24(3), 347.245 (1), or 347.25 (2g), and the vehicle  

is operated as much as practicable on the right half of 

the roadway and in the right-hand lane of a 3-lane  

highway, a portion of the vehicle may extend over the 

center of the roadway into any lane intended for travel  

in the opposite direction and may extend into any  

passing lane of a 3-lane highway.  A wide implement  

of husbandry operated as described in this paragraph 

is subject to any restriction under ss. 346.06, 346.09 (2) 

and (3), and 346.59. 

(1m) Notwithstanding sub. (1), any person operating a 

bicycle or electric personal assistive mobility device  

may ride on the shoulder of a highway unless such  

riding is prohibited by the authority in charge of the 

maintenance of the highway. 

(2) The operator of a vehicle actually engaged in 

constructing or maintaining the highway may operate 

on the left-hand side of the highway; however,  

whenever such operation takes place during the hours 

of darkness the vehicle shall be lighted as required by 

s. 347.23. 

(3) Any vehicle proceeding upon a roadway at less  

than the normal speed of traffic at the time and place 

and under the conditions then existing shall be driven 

in the right-hand lane then available for traffic, or as 

close as practicable to the right-hand edge or curb of the 

roadway, except when overtaking and passing another 
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vehicle proceeding in the same direction or when 

preparing for a left turn or U-turn at an intersection or 

a left turn into a private road or driveway, and except  

as provided in s. 346.072. 

 

Clearly, operating “on the right-hand side of the roadway” is 

not ambiguous.  The lanes are divided by a divided line, and 

everything on the right side of the dotted line is in the right-hand 

lane, and everything on the left-hand side of the dotted line is in 

the left-hand lane.  Nothing could be more clear.  In this case, the 

Wisconsin case law has described this as “left of center”.  State v. 

Popke, 317 Wis.2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569, 2009 WI 37.  There is 

no way an objectively reasonable officer with knowledge of the 

Wisconsin Statutes would believe that the vehicle in question was 

operating on the left side of the lane.  This is more similar to the 

Houghton violation of license plates where the officer did not 

know the law in question.  This is not a matter of interpretation like 

the objects in the windshield.  As stated in the Defendant-

Appellant’s Brief, the test for ambiguity is where the law at issue is 

“so doubtful in construction that a reasonable judge could agree 

with the officer’s view.”  I do not believe that a reasonable judge 

could believe that this vehicle was operating left of center and that 

makes his mistake of law unreasonable.  
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Recent cases have shed further light on what a reasonable 

mistake of the law is.  In State of New Jersey v. Sutherland, 231 

N.J. 429, 176 A.3d 775 (2018), the Court found that the language 

of the statute was unambiguous as it was here, and held that the 

officer’s mistaken belief that the statute was violated was not 

reasonable in that there was no ambiguity in the statute.  The Court 

found that the circumstances there did not amount to the “rare” 

case that involves an objectively reasonable mistake of law.  It 

pointed to the Puzio case where the Court reasoned: 

“If officers were permitted to stop vehicles where it 

is objectively determined that there is no legal basis 

for their action, ‘the potential for abuse of traffic 

infractions as pretext for effecting stops seems  

boundless and the costs to privacy rights excessive.” 

State v. Puzio, 379 N.J. Super. 378, 878 A.2d 857  

(App. Div. 2005) 

 

A recent Wisconsin case law also addressed the issue with 

respect to window tinting. State v. Rusk, 388 Wis.2d 623, 935 

N.W.2d 562, 2019 WI App 54. It shows a difference in the 

Houghton case where the statute actually states where the window 

tinting can occur and is not as subjective as the statute used in 

Houghton to justify the stop.  In this case, the statute specifically 

says:  Operating “on the right-hand side of the roadway” and is not 
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ambiguous, which is more similar to the Rusk case than the 

Houghton case. 

CONCLUSION 

 It is conceded in this case that there was no violation of  

Wisconsin law that occurred prior to the stop.  The statute used to 

justify the stop is not ambiguous.  The officer made a mistake 

when he made the stop and admitted so.  If a stop is allowed in a 

case like this, almost any vehicle on the roadway could be stopped 

at any time and the Fourth Amendment would be rendered 

meaningless.  A simple drift of approximately one second and then 

a correction to the original path is not reasonable suspicion for a 

traffic stop and the Motion to Suppress should be granted and the 

court overruled.